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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

KENNETH WHITAKER, on behalf of himself
and others similarly situated,
Civil Action No.

Plaintiff,
: Philadelphia Court of Common Pleas
V8. : Case No.: 160300763

HERR FOODS, INC., d/b/a HERR’s, a
Pennsylvania corporation,

Defendant.

To:  The Clerk of the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania

Notice of Removal

Dear Sir or Madam, please take notice that Defendant Herr Foods Incorporated (“HFI”)
hereby removes this action, which is currently pending before the Court of Common Pleas of
Philadelphia County, Pennsylvania at docket number 160300763, to the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1441, 1446, and 1453 on
the grounds that federal jurisdiction exists under the Class Action Fairness Act, 28 U.S.C. §
1332(d)(2).

Backeround and Timeliness of Notice

1. On March 11, 2016, Plaintiff Kenneth Whitaker filed a class action complaint against HEI
in the Court of Common Pleas of Philadelphia County, Pennsylvania at docket number 160300763.
A true and correct copy of Plaintiff’s complaint is attached at Exhibit A.'

2. In his complaint, the Plaintiff alleges HFI “misbranded” approximately a dozen different

lines of snack food products. Exh. A at 1. The Plaintiff further alleges that he “would have

'In the caption of the complaint, HFI is referred to as “Herr Foods, Inc.” To clarify, HFI’s proper legal name is “Herr
Foods Incorporated.” Also, the copy of the complaint served on HFI is missing page 8.
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purchased different products that lived up to their labeling” had he known HFI’s “products did not
possess the qualities so advertised.” Id. at §54.
3. There are no allegations in Plaintiff’s complaint that HFI produced or sold harmful or
defective products, caused injury to person or property, or otherwise engaged in tortious conduct.
4. In his complaint, the Plaintiff raises causes of action for alleged violations of the
Pennsylvania Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law, 73 P.S. § 201-1 e seq.,
breach of express warranty, common law fraud, negligent misrepresentation, breach of contract,
and unjust enrichment.
5. HFI has thirty (30) days from the date on which it accepted service of the Plaintiff’s
complaint to file a Notice of Removal. 28 U.S.C, § 1446(b).
6. On March 29, 2016, HFI accepted service of the Plaintiff’s complaint. Exhibit B.
7. Accordingly, this Notice of Removal is timely because it is being filed on or before April
28, 2016.

The Class Action Fairness Act

8. The Class Action Fairness Act, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2) (the “Fairness Act”), applies to
civil class actions commenced on or after February 18, 2005. Pub. L. No. 109-2 § 9, 119‘Stat. 4,
14 (2005).

9. The Fairness Act was adopted to eliminate procedural problems that were at one fime
inherent in the class action environment and detrimental to business interests throughout the United
States.

10.  In lamenting the state of the class action landscape prior to adoption of the Fairness Act,
the United States Senate Judiciary Committee explained:

The current rules governing federal jurisdiction have the unintended consequence
of keeping most class actions out of federal court, even though most class actions
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are precisely the type of case for which diversity jurisdiction was created. In
addition, current law enables plaintiffs’ lawyers who prefer to litigate in state courts
to easily “game the system” and avoid removal of large interstate class actions to
federal court.
Senate Report No. 109-14, pg. 10 (Feb. 28, 2005).
11. Consistent with Congress’s intent, the United States Supreme Court recently explained that
the Fairness Act “should be read broadly, with a strong preference that interstate class actions
should be heard in a federal court if properly removed by any defendant.” Dart Cherokee Basin
Operating Co., LLC v. Owens, 135 S.Ct. 547, 554 (2014), citing Sen. Rep. No. 109-14, pg. 43.
12. Under the Fairness Act, this Court has original jurisdiction over the Plaintiff’s class action

provided HFI can establish the following three basic requirements are met and Plaintiff cannot

prove an exception to jurisdiction applies:

a. The amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs.
b. Any member of the putative class is a citizen of a different state than the defendant,
c. The putative class consists of at least 100 members.

28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d)(2);(5)(B); Judon v. Travelers Property Cas. Co. of America, 773 F.3d 495,
500 (3d Cir.2014).

13.  As detailed below, it is apparent from the face of Plaintiff’s complaint that all three basic
requirements under the Fairness Act are met in this case. Moreover, there is no reason to believe
the Plaintiff will be able to establish any of the exceptions to this Court’s jurisdiction under the
Fairness Act are applicable.

The Amount In Controversy Exceeds $5,000,000

14.  In his complaint, the Plaintiff defines a subset of allegedly “Misbranded Products” that
includes approximately a dozen different HFI snack food lines (collectively, the “HFI Products”).

Exh. A at §1.
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15, In his complaint, Plaintiff explains that the class period runs “from six (6) years prior to
the filing of the Complaint and continu[es] to the present.” Exh. A at §56.

16.  HFI understands it is not necessarily required to attach evidentiary support to this Notice

of Removal. Dart supra 135 S.Ct. at 554, However, HFI is hopeful that providing evidentiary
support at this juncture will demonstrate to the Plaintiff that challenging this Notice would be a
futile waste of time and resources for the Court and the parties.

17. To that end, attached at Exhibit C is an Affidavit from Daryl Thomas, HFI’s Senior Vice-
President of Sales and Marketing, along with a chart showing HFI’s revenues from the sales of
HFI Products from March 11, 2010 (the date Plaintiff alleges the class period began) through the
end of calendar year 2015, That chart is referred to herein as the “Sales Matrix.”

18.  Per the Sales Matrix, HFI’s aggregate revenues from the sale of HFI Products during the
class period (excluding 2016 year to date) amounted to $407,903,654. Of those revenues,
$213,026,510 were from sales to out-of-state customers.

19.  In his Complaint, the Plaintiff repeatedly demands damages in an amount equal to what
the putative class members paid for the HFI Products during the class period.

20.  For example, in his prayer for relief, the Plaintiff demands “restitution in such amount that
Plaintiff and all putative class members paid to purchase the Misbranded Products.” Exh. A,
Prayer for Relief at B; accord Exh. A at 82 (secking damages for “the amount of the purchase
price” that putative class members paid for HFI Products); 989 (seeking damages for “the monies
paid to” HFI by putative class members for HFI Products); 496 (seeking damages for “the amounts
paid for” HFI Products by putative class members); §100 (same).

21.  Therefore, per the allegations in the Plaintiff’s complaint, the base amount in controversy

is $407,903,654. See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(6) (providing that the claims of all putative class
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members must be aggregated for purposes of determining the amount in controversy under the
Fairness Act.)
22.  In addition to demanding the $407,903,654 in “amounts paid” by all putative class
members for the HFI Products during.the class period, the Plaintiff also demands treble and
punitive damages. Exh. A at 74, 90.
23. Thus, per the allegations in Plaintiff’s complaint, he is seeking damages in an amount
equal to $407,903,654 times a multiple.
24,  Accordingly, the amount in controversy is far in excess of $5,000,000.
25.  Moreover, the Plaintiff cannot stipulate to limiting the amount in controversy to $5,000,000
or less in hopes of defeating jurisdiction under the Fairness Act. Standard Fire Ins. Co. v. Knowles,
133 S.Ct, 1345, 1350-1351 (U.S. 2013).
26.  As a consequence, the first basic requirement for establishing original jurisdiction in this
Court under the Fairness Act is satisfied. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2).

There Is Minimal Diversity In This Case

27.  Under the Fairness Act, the second basic requirement for establishing original jurisdiction
in this Court is that there be minimal diversity. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A).

28.  Under the Fairness Act, minimal diversity exists if “any member of a class of plaintiffs is
a citizen of a State different from any defendant.” Jd. (emphasis added).

29,  Defendant HFI is organized under the laws of Pennsylvania and has its principal place of
business in Pennsylvania. Exh. C at §921-23.

30.  Thus, the defendant is domiciled in and is a “citizen” of Pennsylvania. 28 U.S.C. §

1332(c)(1).
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31.  Accordingly, per the Fairness Act, if any member of the putative class is a citizen of a State
different than Pennsylvania, then minimal diversity exists.
32.  As Plaintiff explains in the very first sentence of the very first paragraph of his complaint:

“Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of consumers throughout the United States
who have purchased one or more of the” HFI Products. Exh. A at §1.

See also Exh. A at 468 (“Defendant’s conduct and omissions alleged herein occurred throughout
the United States.”)

33.  Plaintiff further explains in his complaint that “the proposed class includes thousands if not
millions” of members. Exh. A at §60.

34, Accordingly, because defendant HFI is domiciled in Pennsylvania and there are “thousands
if not millions” of putative class members “throughout the United States,” there is minimal
diversity under the Fairness Act. Judon supra 773 F.3d at 505 (explaining that a defendant in a
class action is entitled to rely on the allegations in the plaintiff’s complaint as judicial admissions
to establish federal jurisdiction). Indeed, as attested to by Mr. Thomas, out-of-state customers
purchased $213,026,510 worth of HFI Products during the class period. Exh. C at {11.

35.  As a consequence, the second basic requirement for establishing original jurisdiction in
this Court under the Fairness Act is satisfied. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A).

The Purported Class Consists of At Least 100 Members

36.  Under the Fairness Act, the third and final basic requirement for establishing original
jurisdiction in this Court is that there be at least 100 members in the proposed class. 28 U.S.C. §
1332(d)(5)(B).

37.  In his complaint, the Plaintiff explains he is seeking certification of a class that “includes

thousands if not millions of members.” Exh. A at §60.
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38. As a consequence, the third and final basic requirement for establishing original
jurisdiction in this Court under the Fairness Act is also satisfied. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(5)(B);
accord Judon supra 735 F.3d at 505 (“Because [the plaintiff] explicitly asserted in her complaint

that there are ‘hundreds of members,” [the defendant] was entitled to rely on this fact as an

admission in favor of jurisdiction.”).

Plaintiff Will Not Be Able to Establish An Exception to Jurisdiction Under the Fairness Act

39.  Once the three basic requirements to establish jurisdiction under the Fairness Act are
established, the burden switches to the Plaintiff to prove an exception. See Kaufman v. Allstate
New Jersey Ins. Co., 561 F.3d 144, 154 (3d Cir.2009); accord In re Hannagford Bros. Co. Customer
Data Security Breach Litigation, 564 F.3d 75, 78 (1% Cir.2009) (“We hold that the burden is on
the plaintiff to show that an exception to jurisdiction under CAFA applies. This is the rule adopted
by our sister circuits. . . And it is consistent with the Supreme Court’s general approach to removal
jurisdiction.”), citing Breuer v. Jim’s Concrete of Brevard, Inc., 538 U.S. 691, 698 (2003); Serrano
v. 180 Connect, Inc., 478 F.3d 1018, 1024 (9th Cir.2007); Hart v. FedEx Ground Package Sys.
Inc., 457 F.3d 675, 680-81 (7th Cir.2006); Frazier v. Pioneer Ams. LLC, 455 F.3d 542, 546 (5th
Cir.2006); Evans v. Walter Indus., Inc., 449 F.3d 1159, 1165 (11th Cir.2006).

40.  Under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d)(4)(A)(i) and (d)(B), an exception to jurisdiction under the
Fairness Act will apply if the Plaintiff can establish two-thirds of the putative class members are
Pennsylvania citizens. Upon information and belief, it will be impossible for the Plaintiff to carry
that burden. As attested to by Mr, Thomas, HFI has no way to identify the end-consumers who
purchased the HFI Products or where those end-consumers reside. Accordingly, unless the
Plaintiff can somehow identify all end-consumers of HFI Products during the class period and can

then also establish that two-thirds or more of those end-consumers are Pennsylvania citizens,




Case 2:16-cv-02017-ER Document 1 Filed 04/27/16 Page 8 of 52
156309.1

Plaintiff cannot carry his burden to establish the exception under either 28 U.S.C. §§
1332(d)(4)(A)(i) or (d)(B). Upon information and belief, Plaintiff has no reliable way to identify
the putative class members. Upon information and belief, even if Plaintiff could identify the
putative class members, it is highly unlikely two-thirds or more of those individuals are
Pennsylvania citizens because approximately 53% of the revenues from the sale of HFI Products
during the class period were from sales made to out-of-state customers (i.c., $194,877,144
407,903,654 = 0.47; 0.47 x 100 = 47%; 100% - 47% = 53%). See Exh. C at Sales Matrix.

41. Under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(5)(A), a district court must decline jurisdiction under the
Fairness Act if “the primary defendants are States, State officials, or other governmental entities.”
Defendant HFI is a Pennsylvania business corporation, not a state or other governmental entity.
Exh. C at §21; accord Complaint at §6. Hence, this exception to federal jurisdiction does not
apply.

42, Under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d)(9)(A)-(C), a district court must decline jurisdiction under the
Fairness Act if the class action “solely involves a claim” concerning: (a) “a covered security” under
federal securities laws; (b) “the internal affairs or governance of a corporation or other form of
business enterprise;” or (c) the “rights, duties (including fiduciary duties), and obligations relating
to or created by or pursuant to any security.” The Plaintiff’s complaint alleges mislabeling of
snack foods, and raises no allegations relating to securities or internal corporate governance.
Hence, none of the exceptions to federal jurisdiction set forth in this paragraph apply.

43,  Accordingly, there is no reason to believe Plaintiff will be able to carry his burden to

establish an exception to jurisdiction under the Fairness Act is applicable.
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If Plaintiff Challenges This Notice of Removal, He Is “Locked In” To the Allegations In His
Original Complaint

44,  In the past, plaintiffs who wished to remand class actions that would otherwise be heard in
federal court have attempted to destroy jurisdiction under the Fairness Act via pleading
amendments.

45, Consistent with the purpose of the Fairness Act and the United States Supreme Court’s
directive that the Fairness Act be read broadly, federal courts in the Third Circuit and throughout
the United States refuse to allow plaintiffs to “game the system” by amending pleadings to defeat
federal jurisdiction under the Fairness Act. E.g. Schwartz v. Comcast Corp., 2005 WL 1799414
at *3 (E.D.Pa. 2005), citing Westmoreland Hosp. Ass'nv. Blue Cross of W.Pa., 605 F.2d 119, 123
(3d Cir.1979); see also In re Burlington Northern Santa Fe Ry. Co., 606 F.3d 379, 380 (7
Cir.2010), citing St. Paul Mercury Indemnity Co. v. Red Cab Co., 303 U.S. 283,293 (1938) (“The
well-established general rule is that jurisdiction is determined at the time of removal, and nothing
filed after removal affects jurisdiction.”).

46.  As a consequence, if the Plaintiff chooses to challenge this Notice of Removal, he will be
“locked in” to his allegations that: (a) the base amount of alleged damages at issue in this case
equals “the purchase price [the putative class members] paid for” the HFI Products during the class
period (i.e., $407,903,654); and (b) the putative class includes “thousands if not millions” of

“consumers throughout the United States.” Exh. A at §960,1.

HFI Has Complied With All Other Prerequisites for Removal

47.  Asrequired by 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d), legal counsel for HFI hereby certifies that a copy of
this Notice of Removal is being filed with the clerk of the Philadelphia County Court of Common

Pleas.
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48.  Asrequired by 28 U.S.C. § 1446(a), copies of all processes, pleadings, and orders served
on HFI are attached hereto at Exhibit A. (Please note that nothing has been served on HFT other
than the Plaintiff’s original complaint.)
49,  HFI reserves the right to amend or supplement this Notice of Removal and hereby reserves

all other rights and defenses, including those under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 12 and 23.

Date: April 27, 2016 Respectfully Submitted,

Kegel Kelin Almy & Lord LLP

By: //«&‘)/

/>

@ . Confair
Attorngy Y. 206729
24 North Lime Street

Lancaster, PA 17602

P: (717) 392-1100

F: (717) 392-4385

E: confair@kkallaw.com
Attorney for Defendant
Herr Foods Incorporated

10
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Certificate of Service

The undersigned hereby certifies that a true and correct copy of the foregoing document,
which is part of the initial filing in this case, was served on the date listed below on the parties

listed below via United States mail, postage prepaid:

Todd M. Friedman
Law Office of Todd M. Friedman, P.C.
1150 First Ave., Suite 501
King of Prussia, PA 19406

Anthony J. Orshansky
Alexandria R. Kachadoorian
Justin Kachadoorian
CounselOne, P.C.

9301 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 650
Beverly Hills, CA 90210

Date: April 27, 2016 By:

Z&o}T. Confair

11
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Filed/ and Attested'by.the
Officepf JuditialiRecords

Todd M. Friedman
tfriedman@attorneysforconsumers.com
Attorney ID No. 310961

1150 First Ave., Suite 501

King of Prussia, PA 19406

Telephone: (877) 206-4741

Facsimile: (866) 633-0228

[Additional Counsel on Signature Page]

THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
PHILADEPHIA COUNTY—CIVIL ACTION-LAW

KENNETH WHITAKER, on behalf of himself ) MARCH TERM, 2016
and others similarly situated, g NO
CLASS ACTION

Plaintiff,
Vs g
Pennsylvania corporation, ;

)
Defendant, %

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL
Plaintiff Kenneth Whitaker (“Plaintiff’), on behalf of himself and all others similarly

situated, complains of Herr Foods, Inc., d/b/a Herr’s (“Defendant” or “Herr’s”), a Pennsylvania

corporation, as follows:

1 Case ID: 160300763
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INTRODUCTION

1. Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of consumers throughout the United States
who have purchased one or more of the following misbranded snack products manufactured by
Defendant including, but not limited to, Herr’s Popped Chips (All Natural with Sea Salt, Sour
Cream & Onion, Tangy Barbeque), Herr’s “All Natural” Tortilla Chips, Herr’s All Natural
Sourdough Pretzels, Herr’s All Natural Potato Chips (Sea Salt, Russet, Ripples, Crisp n’ Tasty,
Lattice Cut), and Herr’s Potato Chips (Sour Cream & Onion, Salt n’ Vinegar) (collectively, the
“Misbranded Products™).

2, The Misbranded Products are postured to appeal to consumers like Plaintiff who
prefer to consume natural products that do not contain artificial, synthetic, highly processed
ingredients, color additives or chemical preservatives. The Misbranded Products are marketed as
containing “No Preservatives” and “No MSG” and, on certain packages, as being “All Natural.”
Furthermore, some of the Misbranded Products claim to have “No Trans Fat.” These claims are
made on the front of the product labels of the Misbranded Products and on Herr’s website.

3. These representations are false and deceptive to consumers, who rely on them to
make their purchases, In fact, the Misbranded Products are not natural because they contain a
host of synthetic, artificial, and highly processed ingredients, chemical preservatives, artificial
coloring or flavoring, and genetically modified (GM) material. Moreover, many of the
Misbranded Products purporting to be healthy actually contain high levels of fat that disqualify
Defendant from making that claim.

4, Plaintiff alleges that Defendant’s conduct violates Pennsylvania’s Unfair Trade
Practices and Consumer Protection Law 73 PS 201-1, e seq. Plaintiff also alleges claims for
common law fraud, negligent misrepresentation, breach of contract, breach of warranty, and
unjust enrichment,

5. Plaintiff seeks damages and restitution stemming from Defendant’s false labeling
and advertising. Plaintiff also seeks declaratory and injunctive relief to ensure that Defendant

removes any and all false or misleading labels and advertisements relating to the Misbranded

2 Case ID: 160300763
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Products and to prevent Defendant from making similar representations in the future to the extent
they are inaccurate or deceptive as alleged herein.
PARTIES

6. Defendant is a Pennsylvania corporation and sells the Misbranded Products
throughout Pennsylvania and the United States, including within this judicial district,

7. Plaintiff is and throughout the facts described in this Complaint was a resident of
the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

BACKGROUND

8. Herr’s sells a variety of chip products bearing deceptive labels, including but not
limited to Herr’s Popped Chips (All Natural with Sea Salt, Sour Cream & Onion, Tangy
Barbeque), Herr’s “All Natural” Tortilla Chips, Herr’s All Natural Sourdough Pretzels, Herr’s
All Natural Potato Chips (Sea Salt, Russet, Ripples, Crisp n’ Tasty, Lattice Cut), and Hert’s
Potato Chips (Sour Cream & Onion, Salt n’ Vinegar) (again, the “Misbranded Products”).

9. The Misbranded Products are postured to appeal to consumers like Plaintiff who
prefer to consume natural products that do not contain artificial, synthetic, highly processed
ingredients, color additives or chemical preservatives, The Misbranded Products are marketed as
containing “No Preservatives” and “No MSG” and, on certain packages, as being “All Natural.”
Furthermore, some of the Misbranded Products claim to have “No Trans Fat.” These claims are
made on the front of the product labels of the Misbranded Products and on Herr’s website.

10.  These representations are false. Section 403(a) of the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic
Act prohibits food manufacturers from using labels that contain the terms “natural” when the
foods contain artificial ingredients or flavorings or chemical preservatives. See 21 U.S.C. § 301,
et seq. The Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) considers the use of the term “natural” on a
food label to be truthful and non-misleading only when “nothing artificial or synthetic (including
all color additives regardless of source) has been included in, or has been added to, a food that
would not normally be expected to be in the food.” See 58 FR 2302, 2407, Jan, 6, 1993. Any

preservative, flavoring, or coloring can preclude the use of the term “natural” even if the

3 Case ID: 160300763
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preservative or flavoring is derived from natural sources. Id.; see also FDA Compliance Guide
CPG § 587.100 (“The use of the words ‘food color added,’ ‘natural color,” or similar words
containing the term ‘food’ or ‘natural’ may be erroneously interpreted to mean the color is a
naturally occurring constituent in the food. Since all added colors result in an artificially colored
food, we would object to the declaration of any added color as ‘food’ or ‘natural.’”).

11,  In like manner, the USDA defines “natural” as meaning (1) the product does not
contain any artificial flavor or flavoring, coloring ingredient, or chemical preservative (as
defined in 21 C.F.R. § 101.22), or any other artificial or synthetic ingredient; and (2) the product
and its ingredients are not more than minimally processed, i.e., the processing does not
fundamentally alter the raw product.

12.  Although some of the ingredients in the Mislabeled Products may occur naturally
in certain foods, they are chemically synthesized and highly processed when manufactured as
food additives. For example, citric acid is a preservative and flavoring that, contrary to popular
belief, is not fruit-derived and thus not natural but is produced in a highly synthetic process
involving certain genetically modified strains of the mold Aspergillus niger as well as sulfuric
acid, among other chemicals.

13.  Similarly, sodium diacetate is a food additive that is used to impart a vinegar
flavor. It also serves as a preservative and PH buffer and acts as a preservative by preventing the
growth of several strains of molds, as well as acting as an antibacterial agent to extend shelf life
in packaged foods. See 21 C.F.R. § 184,1444(c).

14, Not only does the existence of chemical preservatives, artificial coloring, and
color additives in Herr’s chips render its labels false and deceptive, but Herr’s also shirks its
obligation to affirmatively inform consumers of the presence of chemical preservatives and

artificial and flavoring coloring in Defendant’s products, as required by law.

15. The federal regulations require “{a] statement of artificial flavoring, artificial
coloring, or chemical preservative shall be placed on the food or on its container or wrapper, or

on any two or all three of these, as may be necessary to render such statement likely to be read

4 Case ID: 160300763
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by the ordinary person under customary conditions of purchase and use of such food.” 21 C.F.R.
§ 101.22(c).

16.  But the labels of Herr’s chips do not state that products contain artificial coloring
or chemical preservatives, and many of the products (e.g., Herr’s Popped Sour Cream & Onion
Chips) fail to disclose the presence of artificial flavoring, as required under the federal
regulations. To the contrary, as discussed above, Defendant’s labels affirmatively represent that
Herr’s chips are preservative-free.

Defendant Falsely Labels the Misbranded Products as “All Natural.”

17.  Defendant’s representations that the Misbranded Products are “All Natural” are
false, deceptive, and misleading.

18.  Section 403(a) of the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act prohibits food manufacturers
from using labels that contain the terms “natural” when the foods contain artificial ingredients or
flavorings or chemical preservatives. See 21 U.S.C. §§ 301, et seq. The FDA considers the use
of the term “natural” on a food label to be truthful and non-misleading when “nothing artificial
or synthetic ... has been included in, or has been added to, a food that would not normally be
expected to be in the food.” See FR 2302, 2407, Jan. 6, 1993. Any preservative or flavoring can
preclude the use of the term “natural” even if the preservative or flavoring is derived from
natural sources. See also FDA Compliance Guide CPG Sec. 587.100.

19.  The FDA’s policy is also consistent with the common acceptation of the words
“all natural.” Webster’s New World Dictionary defines “natural” as “produced or existing in
nature; not artificial or manufactured.”! Moreover, “all” is defined as “the whole extent or
quantity of[.]” (Id., “all,” definition no. 1 at p. 36.) Thus the use of “all” and “natural” on the
labels of the Mislabeled Products represents to the average reasonable person that “the entire
extent or quantity of” the ingredients contained in the food products‘ are “produced or existing in

nature; not artificial or manufactured.”

1 Webster's New World Dictionary of the American Language, 2nd College Ed. (Simon & Schuster,
1984), “natural,” definition no. 2 at p.947.
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20.  The FDA’s policy is also consistent with consumers’ understanding of the word
“natural.” Consumers understand “natural” to exclude synthetic ingredients, food additives, or
chemical preservatives. In a 2007 survey conducted by the Natural Marketing Institute the
majority of respondents believed that the term “natural” in a product label meant that the product
contained 100 percent natural ingredients, no artificial flavors, no artificial colors, no
preservatives, no chemicals, and a substantial percentage thought that it meant that the product
was not highly processed. Moreover, 81 percent of respondents found products claiming to be
“natural” very/somewhat important when purchasing food or beverage products. And large
majorities also found that products containing no preservatives, no artificial ingredients, no
artificial flavors, and no artificial colors to be very/somewhat important when purchasing food
and beverage products. These percentages are even greater among the health-conscious
segments of the U.S. population, which are large—approximately 40 percent. What is more, the
survey found that these trends have increased from previous years, and consequently the subject
labeling statements are probably far more important to consumers today. Significantly, the
survey also found that package labeling was by far the most important source of information
influencing consumers’ purchasing decisions, especially among the health-conscious segment of
the population.

21, Moreover, like the FDA, the United States Department of Agticulture (“USDA™),
which regulates the labeling of meat and poultry, has also set limits on the use of the term
“natural.” The USDA’s Food Safety and Inspection Service states that the term “natural” may
be used on labeling of meat and poultry products so long as “(1) the product does not contain any
artificial flavor or flavorings, color ingredient, or chemical preservative . . . or any other artificial
or synthetic ingredient, and (2) the product and its ingredients are not more than minimally
processed.”

22,  According to the USDA, “[m]inimal processing may include: (a) those traditional
processes used to make food edible or to preserve it or to make it safe for human consumption,

e.g., smoking, roasting, freezing, drying, and fermenting, or (b) those physical processes which
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do not fundamentally alter the raw product and/or which only separate a whole, intact food into
component parts, €.g., grinding meat, separating eggs into albumen and yolk, and pressing fruits

»2

to produce juices.”* However, “[r]elatively severe processes, e.g., solvent extraction, acid

hydrolysis, and chemical bleaching would clearly be considered more than minimal
processing.”

23.  Under USDA policy, a product cannot be labeled as being “natural” if an
ingredient would significantly change the character of the product to the point that it could no
longer be considered a natural product. Moreover, any product purporting to be “natural” must
conspicuously identify any synthetic ingredients used on the label (e.g., “all natural ingredients
except dextrose, modified food starch, etc.”). For example, a “turkey roast” cannot be called a
“natural” product if it contains beet coloring but can still bear the statement “all natural
ingredients modified by beet coloring,” Defendant does not, however, include any such limiting
language on the Misbranded Products.

24.  The terms “synthetic” and “artificial” closely resemble each other and in common
parlance are taken as synonymous. The scientific community defines “artificial” as something
not found in nature, whereas a “synthetic” substance is defined as something man-made, whether
it merely mimics nature or is not found in nature.’ In the scientific community, “synthetic”
includes substances that are also “artificial,” but a synthetic substance also can be artificial or

non-artificial.® However, the common understanding of “artificial” resembles the scientific

2 See The United States Department of Agriculture Food Standards and Labeling Policy book

available at http://www.fsis.usda.gov/OPPDE/larc/Policies/Labeling_Policy_Book_OSZOOS.pdf (last
visited December 18, 2013),

3 Ibid,
4 Ibid,

5 Peter E. Nielsen, Natural-synthetic-artificial!, Artificial DNA: PNA & XNA, Volume 1, Issue |
(July/August/September 2010), available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3109441/
(last visited December 18, 2013).

§ Ibid.
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corn, sunflower, soybean, or cottonseed oil&——all of which are typically genetically modified),’
\
whey,'® natural flavor, autolyzed yeast extract/monosodium glutamate,' maltodextrin,'?

crushing sunflower seeds, heating them in steam, and putting the seeds through a high volume press using
heat and friction to press oil from seeds, after which seed pulp and oil are put through a hexane solvent
bath (hexane is derived from crude petroleum) and steamed again. The seed and oil mix then is put
through a centrifuge where phosphate is added to separate seed and oil. The extracted oil is then further
refined by degumming (adding water to extract the solvent by decanting or centrifuge), neutralization
(removing impurities with caustic soda (sodium hydroxide) or soda ash (sodium carbonate), bleaching
(harmonizing color by treatment with bleaching agents such as fuller's earth, activated carbon, or
activated clays), and deodorization (using high pressure steam), Citric acid also may be added to remove
any metals present. After the oil is removed from the proteins (commonly through solvent extraction
using hexane), all oils are further processed before they can be added as a food ingredient. Such
processing can include bleaching, deodorization, degumming to remove phosphatides, and alkali refining
to remove free fatty acids, colorants, insoluble matter and gums. Each of these processing steps may use
additional synthetic and hazardous compounds.

9 GMOs are not natural, let alone “all natural.” Monsanto, one of the companies that makes GMOs,
defines GMOs as “[p]lants or animals that have had their genetic makeup altered to exhibits traits that are
not naturally theirs. In general, genes are taken (copies) from one organism that shows a desired trait and
transferred into the genetic code of another organism.” In short, GMOs are created artificially in a
laboratory through genetic engineering, and a product that contains GMOs like canola oil is therefore not

natural.

10 Whey protein cannot be considered natural because it is highly processed using harsh chemicals. The
ion-exchange process uses chemical reagents (hydrochloric acid and sodium hydroxide) to positively and
negatively charge the ions so that the protein molecules will magnetically attach themselves to the resins
in a reaction vessel. This process heavily denatures some of the vital components of the proteins such as
glycomacropeptide (which are the biologically active proteins that aid protein digestion, improve the
ability to absorb calcium, and have a positive effect on the immune system) and alpha lactalbumin (which
contains a large amount of essential amino acids). In sum, though the jon-exchange process increases
protein content, some of the most valuable and health promoting components are depleted.

' Monosodium glutamate (MSG), which is also called autolyzed yeast, yeast extract, spice extracts,
caseinate, natural and artificial flavor, hydrolyzed protein, and soy protein concentrate, is a synthetic
chemical that is added to manufactured and processed foods to enhance the flavor, It is derived from
glutamic acid, an amino acid, however, the manufacturing process results in the addition of chemical by-
products or contaminants, MSG is an excitotoxin that may damage the brain functions responsible for the
autonomic nervous system and endocrine system. It potentially may cause slecp problems, food cravings,
headaches, asthma, behavioral disorders, depression, heart irregularities, restless leg syndrome, arthritis,
sinus problems and digestive disorders.

12 Maltodextrin is saccharide polymer that is produced through the non-kitchen-chemistry process of
partial acid and enzymatic hydrolysis of starch. 21 C.F.R. § 184.1444(c). Synthetic chemicals are often
used to extract and purify the enzymes used to produce maltodextrin and dextrose. The microorganisms,
fungi, and bacteria used to produce these enzymes are also often synthetically produced.
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dextrose,!3 sodium diacetate,'* enriched wheat flour (containing riboflavin,'’ folic acid,'®

niacin'’, reduced iron, thiamine mononitrate'®), canola oil,'* whey protein concentrate, paprika

13 Dextrose is enzymatically synthesized in a similar manner as the foregoing, crystallizing D-glucose 5
with one molecule of water.

M Sodium diacetate is a recognized chemical preservative used to control mold and bacteria in foods. See
21 C.F.R. § 184.1754(c). It is also an artificial flavor. /d.

15 Riboflavin is a synthetic compound. U.S. International Trade Commission, Synthetic Organic
Chemical Index, USTIC Pub. 2933 (Nov. 1995). 1t is also a food coloring agent. E101.

16 Folic acid is the synthetically-created chemical N-[4-[[(2-amino-1,4-dihydro-4-oxo-
6pteridinyl)methyl]amino]benzoyl]-L-glutamic acid. 21 C.F.R, § 172.345(a). Folic acid differs from
natural folate in numerous respects, including shelf-life and bioavailability. Even the molecular structure
of folic acid is different from that of natural folate.

7 Niacin is “is the chemical 3-pyridinecarboxylic acid amide (nicotinamide).” 21 C.F.R. § 184.1535. It is
federally recognized as a synthetic substance. U.S. International Trade Commission, Synthetic Organic
Chemical Index, USTIC Pub. 2933 (Nov. 1995).

18 Thiamine mononitrate (C12H17N504S, CAS Reg. No, 532-43-4) is the mononitrate salt of thiamine.

It occurs as white crystals or a white crystalline powder and is prepared from thiamine hydrochloride by
dissolving the hydrochloride salt in alkaline solution followed by precipitation of the nitrate half-salt with
a stoichiometric amount of nitric acid. See 21 C.F.R. § 184.1878(a). Synthetically thiamin is usually
marketed as thiamin hydrochioride or thiamin mononitrate and is made from Grewe diamine (a coal tar
derivative) processed with ammonia and other chemicals. No thiamin hydrochloride (often listed as
thiamin HCL) or thiamin mononitrate is naturally found in food or the body (thiamin pyrophosphate is the
predominant form in the body).

19 Canola oil is not natural. After the oil is removed from the proteins (commonly through solvent
extraction), all oils are further processed before they can be added as a food ingredient. See, e.g., 21
C.F.R. § 184.1555(c)(1) (requiring all canola oil to be “fully refined, bleached, and deodorized”). Such
processing can include bleaching, deodorization, degumming to remove phosphatides, and alkali refining
to remove free fatty acids, colorants, insoluble matter and gums. Each of these processing steps may use
additional synthetic and hazardous compounds. Canola oil must be specially processed because it is
derived from rapeseed, a toxic plant. Moreover, the vast majority of canola crops are genetically
modified (GM). Consumers, especially those shopping for natural products, avoid genetically modified

organisms (GMOs).
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and annatto extracts (color additives),2’ soda,?' and modified food starch,22

29.  The presence of the foregoing ingredients in products labeled “All Natural” is
false and deceptive.

Defendant Failed to Disclose the Presence of Chemical Preservatives and/or Artificial
Flavoring or Coloring on the Product Labels.

30.  Not only does the existence of chemical preservatives, artificial coloring, and
color additives in Defendant’s chips render its labels false and deceptive, but Defendant also fails
to affirmatively inform consumers of the presence of chemical preservatives and artificial and
flavoring coloring in Defendant’s products, as required by law.

31.  Pursuant to 21 C.F.R. § 101.22(c), a statement of artificial flavoring, artificial
coloring, or chemical preservative shall be placed on the food or on its container or wrapper, or
on any two or all three of these, as may be necessary to render such statement likely to be read
by the ordinary person under customary conditions of purchase and use of such food.

32.  Pursuant to 21 C.F.R. § 101.22(j), a food to which a chemical preservative is
added shall, except when exempt pursuant to 101,100, bear a label declaration stating both the
common or usual name of the ingredient and a separate description of its function, e.g.,
“preservative,” “to retard spoilage,” “a mold inhibitor,” “to help protect flavor,” or “to promote
color retention.”

33.  The Misbranded Products fail to comply with the requirements of 21 C.F.R. §

101.22. Although they contain numerous chemicals, including for example citric acid and

20 Annatto and paprika are used to color foods. Their processing may involve extraction with oil or lard.

21 §odium bicarbonate, or baking soda, is mainly prepared by the Solvay process, which is the reaction
of sodium chloride, ammonia, and carbon dioxide in water. Calcium carbonate is used as the source of
CO2 and the resultant calcium oxide is used to recover the ammonia from the ammonium chloride.

2 Modified food starch is used as an emulsifier and thickening agent. To create the product, starch is
treated with inorganic acids such as hydrochloric acid, maltodextrin, cyclodextrin, sodium or potassium
phosphate, sodium or potassium hydroxide, acetic anhydride, or many other compounds. Cold water
soluble starches may be dried by extrusion, drum drying, spray drying, or dextrinization. It also may
contain MSG.
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sodium diacetate, the labels fail to desﬁribe the function of these chemical preservatives, thus
violating the law and concealing their presence.

34, 21 CF.R. § 101.22(a)(5) provides that, “The term chemical preservative means
any chemical that, when added to food, tends to prevent or retard deterioration thereof, but does
not include common salt, sugars, vinegars, spices, or oils extracted from spices, substances added
to food by direct exposure thereof to wood smoke, or chemicals applied for their insecticidal or
herbicidal properties.”

35.  The foregoing additives, however, are not types of common salt, sugar, vinegar,
spice, or oil extracted from spices, nor are they substances added to food by direct exposure
thereof to wood smoke, or chemicals applied for their insecticidal or herbicidal properties. As
used by Defendant in its products, these chemicals prevent or retard deterioration of the products.
Therefore, they are “chemical preservatives” in Defendant’s products, as defined in 21 C.F.R. §
101.22(a)(5).

36.  Similarly, Defendant violated the requirement of 21 C.F.R. § 101.22(c) to place a
statement of artificial flavoring on its product labels as may be necessary to render such
statement likely to be read by the ordinary person under customary conditions of purchase and
use of such food.

37.  Defendant was required to disclose that citric acid functions as artificial flavor
and place a statement to this effect on Defendant’s products. This chemical meets the definition
of an artificial flavor under federal law and does not meet the definition of natural flavors under
federal law.

38.  Defendant also fails to place a statement of artificial coloring on the product
labels. “The term artificial color or artificial coloring means any ‘color additive’ as defined in
70.3(f) of this chapter.” 21 C.F.R. § 101.22(a)(4). Section 70.3(f) in turn defines “color
additive” as any “dye, pigment, or other substance ... or extracted, isolated, or otherwise derived,
with or without intermediate or final change of identity, from a vegetable, animal, mineral, or

other source and that, when added or applied to a food, drug, or cosmetic or to the human body
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or any part thereof, is capable (alone or through reaction with another substance) of imparting a
color thereto.”

39.  Defendant avowedly uses paprika and annatto extracts to impart color to the
Misbranded Products but does not place a statement of artificial coloring on its product labels.

40. In sum, labeling products as “All Natural” and containing “No Preservatives,”
“No Trans Fat,” and “No MSG,” carries implicit health benefits important to consumers—
benefits that consumers are willing to pay a premium for over comparable products that are not
so labeled and marketed. Defendant has cultivated and reinforced a corporate image based on
this theme, which it has placed on each and every one of the Misbranded Products, despite the
fact Defendant uses synthetic, artificial, highly processed ingredients, chemical preservatives,
and artificial flavors and color additives. The use of these ingredients in the Misbranded
Products renders Defendant’s labels false and misleading. |

Defendant Falsely Labels Its Chips as Containing “No MSG.”

41,  The Misbranded Products also deceptively purport not to contain MSG.,

42,  Monosodium glutamate, or MSG, is the processed sodium salt of the common
amino acid glutamic acid, an amino acid that is naturally present in many foods and food
additives.

43, MSG is a discredited flavor enhancer that can reportedly cause headaches,
flushing, sweating, facial pressure or tightness, numbness, tingling or burning in the face, neck
and other areas, rapid, fluttering heartbeats, chest pain, nausea and weakness.

44,  Manufacturers understand that people avoid MSG. Instead of removing MSG
from their products, however, some manufacturers obscure the fact that their food products
contain MSG by using ingredients that contain MSG but have names that consumers do not
recognize as being associated with MSG because the FDA requires manufacturers to list the
ingredient “monosodium glutamate” on food labels but does not require food labels to specify
that the food naturally contains MSG. See 21 C.F.R. § 101.22 (h)(5).

45.  Foods containing ingredients with naturally occurring MSG, however, cannot be

labeled “No MSG.” There are more than 40 ingredients containing glutamic acid. Whether an
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ingredient contains glutamic acid cannot be readily determined by consumers based on the
names of the ingredients alone. Additionally, in some foods glutamic acid is formed during
processing, a fact that food labels fail to disclose.

46.  Although many of Defendant’s products claim to contain “No MSG,” these
products use several ingredients that either contain glutamic acid or create MSG during
processing, including but not limited to the natural flavors and flavoring, seasoning, citric acid,
maltodextrin, and autolyzed yeast extract. Consequently, the “No MSG” representation is false
and deceptive to consumers.

Defendant Falsely Labels Its Chips as Containing “No Trans Fat.”

47.  Finally, some of Defendant’s products claim to have “No Trans Fats” but actually
contain partially hydrogenated oils (e.g., Herr’s Sour Cream & Onion Chips, Salt n’ Vinegar
Potato Chips), a recognized form of trans fat.

48.  Trans fat intake has been linked to an increased risk of coronary heart disease by
contributing to the buildup of plaque inside the arteries that may cause a heart attack. For this
reason, FDA requires that the trans fat content of food be declared on the Nutrition Facts label to
help consumers determine how each food contributes to their overall dietary intake of trans fat.
Indeed the FDA has recently recognized that partially hydrogenated oils are no longer safe.?

49.  Yet not only do the Misbranded Products contain this dangerous ingredient, but
the product labels actually claim not to contain any trans fat. Because of the presence of partially
hydrogenated oils, this representation is false and deceptive.

Allegations as to the Named Plaintiff

50.  Plaintiff is and, throughout the entire class period, was a resident of the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, Throughout the class period Plaintiff has been concerned
about and tries to avoid consuming foods that are not natural, such as foods containing synthetic,

artificial, chemical, or highly processed ingredients, chemical preservatives, and artificial flavors

B See “FDA Cuts Trans Fat in Processed Foods,” available at
http://www.fda.gov/ForConsumers/ConsumerUpdates/ucm37291S.htm (last accessed December 12,

2015)
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and colors. Plaintiff also prefers to consume foods that are healthy, wholesome, and nutritious,
especially foods that do not contain trans fats and that are made from natural ingredients.
Plaintiff is willing to buy and pay a premium for and has bought and paid a premium for foods
that are natural, that do not contain chemical preservatives and/or artificial flavors and colors,
that purport to be wholesome and healthy, and that do not contain preservatives, trans fat, or
MSG.

51.  During the class period Plaintiff purchased the Misbranded Products on many
occasions. Before purchasing the Misbranded Products, Plaintiff read and relied on Defendant’s
labels claiming that the products are “All Natural” and contain “No Preservatives,” “No Trans
Fat,” and “No MSG.”

52.  Plaintiff relied on these representations and believed that he was purchasing
products that were all natural and free of synthetic, artificial, and highly processed ingredients,
and chemical preservatives, and artificial coloring or flavoring. Based on these representations
Plaintiff also believed that he was purchasing products that were free of preservatives, trans fat,
and MSG.

53.  Plaintiff not only purchased the Misbranded Products because of the identified
representations but also paid more money than he would have had to pay for other similar
products that were not natural and that contained synthetic, artificial, highly processed
ingredients, chemical preservatives, and artificial coloring or flavoring, and that contained trans-
fat and MSG.

54, Indeed, had Plaintiff known that Defendant’s products did not possess the
qualities so advertised, he would have purchased different products that lived up to their labeling
claims o, if these were not available, he would have paid less for the purchased products or
similar products not making such claims. In this way, Plaintiff did not receive the products he

bargained for and lost money as a result in the form of paying a premium for Defendant’s

products,
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55. On September 7, 2015, Plaintiff sent a letter to Defendant informing it of the
foregoing unlawful conduct in connection with the sale of the Misbranded Products and
requested that it correct, repair, replace, or otherwise rectify its unlawful conduct. Defendant has
declined to do so.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

56.  Plaintiff brings this action on behalf of himself and those similarly situated as a
class action pursuant to Pa.R.C.P. § 1701 ef seq. Plaintiff seeks to represent the following class:
All persons in the United States or, alternatively, Pennsylvania who purchased one of more of
the Misbranded Products from six (6) years prior to the filing of the Complaint and continuing to
the present.

57. The class excludes counsel representing the class,  governmental entities,
Defendant, any entity in which Defendant has a controlling interest, Defendant’s officers,
directors, affiliates, legal representatives, employees, co-conspirators, successors, subsidiaries,
and assigns; any judicial officer presiding over this matter and the members of their immediate
families and judicial staff; and any individual whose interests are antagonistic to other putative
class members.

58,  Plaintiff reserves the right to amend or modify the class description with greater
particularity or further division into subclasses or limitation to particular issues.

59.  This action has been brought and may properly be maintained as a class action
under the provisions of Pa.R.C.P. § 1701 ef seq. because there is a well-defined community of
interest in the litigation and the class is easily ascertainable.

A, Numerosity

60.  The potential members of the class as defined are so numerous that joinder of all
members of the class is impracticable. Although the precise number of putative class members

has not been determined at this time, Plaintiff is informed and believes that the proposed class
includes thousands if not millions of members,

m
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B. Commonality and Predominance
61.  There are questions of law and fact common to the class that predominate over
any questions affecting only individual putative class members. These common questions of law
and fact include:
a.  Whether Defendant’s conduct violated Pennsylvania’s Unfair Trade Practices
and Consumer Protection Law, 73 P.S. § 201-1, ef seq.;
b.  Whether Defendant intentionally marketed the Misbranded Products to deceive
consumers into purchasing them;
¢.  Whether Defendant advertises or markets the Misbranded Products in a way that
is false or misleading;
d.  Whether Plaintiff and members of the putative class are entitled to restitution,
injunctive, declaratory and/or other equitable relief;
e. Whether Defendant knew or should have known that the labeling
representations were false;
£ Whether Defendant negligently misrepresented, concealed, or omitted a material
fact regarding the true characteristics of the Misbranded Products;
g.  Whether Defendant’s conduct described herein constitutes breach of contract;
and
h.  Whether Defendant has been unjustly enriched through the misrepresentations
alleged herein,
C. Adequacy of Representation
62.  Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the class
and has no conflicts of interest in the maintenance of the class action, Counsel who represent
Plaintiff and putative class members are experienced and competent in litigating class actions

and have adequate financial resources to assure that the interests of the class will not be harmed.

mn
"
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D. Typicality

63.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the other members of the class.
Plaintiff and the class sustained damages as a result of Defendant’s uniform wrongful conduct
during transactions with Plaintiff and the class.

E. Superiority of Class Action

64, A class action is superior to other available means for the fair and efficient
adjudication of this controversy under Pa.R.C.P. § 1708. Individual joinder of putative class
members is not practicable, and questions of law and fact common to putative class members
predominate over any questions affecting only individual putative class members. Each putative
class member has been damaged and is entitled to recovery by reason of Defendant’s illegal
policies or practices; however, the amount which may be recovered by individual class members
will be so small in relation to the expense and effort of administering the action as not to justify a
class action. Class action treatment will allow those persons similarly situated to litigate their
claims in the manner that is most efficient and economical for the parties and the judicial system.
Plaintiff is unaware of any difficulties in managing this case that should preclude class action.

65. A class action is also the most fair and efficient method of adjudication because
Defendant has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the class, thereby
making final equitable or declaratory relief appropriate with respect to the class.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

Violations of Pennsylvania’s Unfair Trade Practices and Consumer Protection Law,
73 P.S. § 201-1, et seq.

66.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation set forth above.

67.  Plaintiff and class members are persons as that term is defined by 73 P.S. § 201-
2(2).
i
n
i

18 Case ID: 160300763




Case 2:16-cv-02017-ER Document 1 Filed 04/27/16 Page 31 of 52

68.  Defendant’s conduct and omissions alleged herein occurred throughout the United
States including within the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania and constitutes deceptive conduct
that creates a likelihood of confusion or misunderstanding in connection with the sale of the
Misbranded Products.

69. Defendant’s conduct constitutes a violation of 73 P.S. § 201-2(4)(v), (vii), (xi),
and (xiv).

70.  Plaintiff and the putative class seek to purchase healthful snacks that are made
from all natural ingredients, and are free from chemical preservatives, artificial colors and
flavors, and which are free from harmful trans fats and MSG.

71.  Defendant represented on its product packaging and through its marketing and
advertising that its snack products satisfied the characteristics described above. In doing so,
Defendant induced Plaintiff and other members of the putative class to purchase the Misbranded
Products when they otherwise would not have done so and instead would have purchased other
products that conformed to the manufacturers’ representations.

72, Plaintiff and others similarly situated justifiably relied on Defendant’s skill and
expertise in developing, manufacturing, and selling the Misbranded Products. Defendant at all
times material hereto possessed superior knowledge regarding the ingredients of the Misbranded
Products about which Plaintiff and the putative class could not reasonably be expected to learn or
discover until after purchasing the Misbranded Products.

73.  Plaintiff and the putative class have been damaged by the deceptive acts of
Defendant in connection with its marketing, advertising, labeling, and sale of its snack products,
and through the purchase of the Misbranded Products.

74.  Plaintiff and the class, pursuant to the Pennsylvania Unfair Trade Practices and
Consumer Protection Law, 73 P.S. §§ 201-1, ef seq., seek to recover either their actual damages
or one hundred dollars ($100), whichever is greater, and seek trebling of actual damages, plus
attorneys’ fees, expenses and costs, and such other items of damages and equitable relief

available.
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
Breach of Express Warranty

75.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation set forth above.

76.  “Any affirmation of fact or promise made by the seller to the buyer which relates
to the goods and becomes part of the basis of the bargain creates an express warranty that the
goods shall conform to the affirmation or promise” and “[a]ny description of the goods which is
made part of the basis of the bargain creates an express warranty that the goods shall conform to
the description.” 13 P.S. § 2313(a)(1) & (2).

77. Plaintiff “read, heard, saw or knew of the advertisement containing the
affirmation of facts or promise”* because he saw and read the labels of the Misbranded Products
and viewed the website advertising the Misbranded Products, and thereby knew of the false
representations being made by Defendant.

78.  The representations regarding the Misbranded Products being all natural, and
containing no preservatives, no trans-fat, and no MSG were made to consumers because they
were made prominently on the packages of the Misbranded Products and on the website
promoting the Misbranded Products and touting their supposed virtues to consumers. The
purpose of the representations on the package labels and the website representations promoting
the Misbranded Products was to induce consumers to purchase the Misbranded Products by
persuading consumers that the products were more healthful than regular snack products.?’

i
i
m
"

2 parkinson v. Guidant Corp., 315 F.Supp.2d 741, 752 (W.D. Pa. 2004); Gross v. Stryker Corp., 858 F.
Supp. 2d 466, 501 (W.D. Pa. 2012).

25 See Sowers v. Johnson & Johnson Med., 867 F. Supp. 306, 314 (E.D.Pa.1994); Kenepp v. Am. Edwards
Lab., 859 F. Supp. 809, 817 (E.D. Pa. 994).
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79. By advertising and selling the Misbranded Products at issue here as “All Natural”
and containing “No Preservatives,” “No Trans Fat,” and “No MSG,” Defendant made promises
and affirmations of fact on the product packaging and through its marketing and advertising, as
described above.?

80.  This marketing and advertising constitutes an express warranty and became part
of the basis of the bargain between Plaintiff and members of the class on the one hand and
Defendant on the other.

81,  Defendant has breached its express warranties about the Misbranded Products and
their qualitics because these products do not conform to Defendant’s stated affirmations and
promises, as described hereinabove.

82.  As a result of Defendant’s breach of express warranty, Plaintiff and members of
the class were harmed in the amount of the purchase price they paid for these products.
Moreover, Plaintiff and members of the class have suffered and continue to suffer economic
losses and other general and specific damages, including but not limited to the amounts paid for
the Misbranded Products, and any interest that would have accrued on those monies, all in an

amount to be proven at trial.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

Common Law Fraud

83.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation set forth above.

84.  Defendant willfully, falsely, and knowingly misrepresented material facts relating
to the character and quality of the Misbranded Products. These misrepresentations are contained
in various media advertising and packaging disseminated or caused to be disseminated by
Defendant, and such misrepresentations were teiterated and disseminated by officers, agents,
representatives, servants, or employees of Defendant acting within the scope of their authority

and employed by Defendant to merchandise and market the Misbranded Products.

% See Gross v. Stryker Corp., 858 F. Supp. 2d 466, 501 (W.D. Penn. 2012).
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85.  Defendant’s misrepresentations were the type of misrepresentations that are
material (i.e., the type of misrepresentations to which a reasonable person would attach
importance and would be induced to act thereon in making purchase decisions).

86.  Defendant knew that the misrepresentations alleged herein were false at the time
it made them and/or acted recklessly in making such misrepresentations.

87.  Defendant intended that Plaintiff and members of the putative class rely on the
misrepresentations alleged herein and purchase the Misbranded Products.

88.  Plaintiff and members of the putative class reasonably and justifiably relied on
Defendant’s mistepresentations when purchasing the Misbranded Products and were unaware of
the existence of facts that Defendant suppressed or failed to disclose, and had the facts been
known would not have purchased the Misbranded Products and/or purchased them at the prices
at which they were offered.

89.  As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s wrongful conduct, Plaintiff and
members of the putative class have suffered and continue to suffer economic losses and other
general and specific damages, including, but not necessarily limited to, the monies paid to
Defendant, and any interest that would have accrued on those monies, all in an amount to be
proven at trial,

90.  Moreover, at all times herein mentioned, Defendant intended to cause or acted
with reckless disregard of the probability of causing damage to Plaintiff and members of the
putative class, and consequently Plaintiff and members of the putative class are entitled to an
award of punitive damages against Defendant in an amount adequate to deter such conduct in the

future.
FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

Negligent Misrepresentation

91.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation set forth above. Plaintiff pleads
this cause of action in the alternative to the foregoing.

"
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92.  Defendant, directly or through its agents and employees, made false
representations to Plaintiff and members of the putative class.

93,  Defendant owed a duty to Plaintiff and members of the putative class to disclose
the material facts set forth above about the Misbranded Products.

94,  In making the representations, and in doing the acts alleged above, Defendant
acted without any reasonable grounds for believing the representations were true and intended by
said representations to induce the reliance of Plaintiff and members of the putative class.

95.  Plaintiff and members of the putative class reasonably and justifiably relied on
Defendant’s misrepresentations when purchasing the Misbranded Products, were unaware of the
existence of facts that Defendant suppressed and failed to disclose and, had the facts been
known, would not have purchased the Misbranded Products and/or purchased them at the price at
which they were offered.

96, As a direct and proximate result of these misrepresentations, Plaintiff and
members of the class have suffered and continue to suffer economic losses and other general and
specific damages, including but not limited to the amounts paid for the Misbranded Products, and
any interest that would have accrued on those monies, all in an amount to be proven at trial.

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Breach of Contract

97.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation set forth above.

98.  Plaintiff and members of the class had a valid contract, supported by sufficient
consideration, pursuant to which Defendant was obligated to provide all-natural products,
without preservatives, trans-fat, or MSG, as applicable to the particular product, that did not
contain any synthetic, artificial, highly processed ingredients, chemical preservatives, artificial

flavors, or color additives.

99.  Defendant materially breached its contract with Plaintiff and members of the

putative class by providing products that did not adhere to these promises.

n
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100. As a result of Defendant’s breach, Plaintiff and members of the putative class
were damaged in that they received a product of less value than one for which they paid.
Plaintiff and members of the class have suffered and continue to suffer economic losses and
other general and specific damages, including but not limited to the amounts paid for the
Misbranded Products, and any interest that would have accrued on those monies, all in an
amount to be proven at trial,

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION
Unjust Enrichment

101.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference each allegation set forth above. Plaintiff pleads
this cause of action in the alternative to the foregoing.

102. Defendant’s conduct in enticing Plaintiff and putative class members to purchase
the Misbranded Products through false and misleading advertising and packaging as described
throughout this Complaint is unlawful because the statements contained on Defendant’s product
labels are untrue. Defendant took monies from Plaintiff and members of the putative class for
products promised to be bearing the contested labeling representations even though the
Misbranded Products did not conform to those representations.

103. Defendant wrongfully secured a benefit from Plaintiff and the putative class —
their money to purchase products that they believed had healthful qualities the products actually
did not have — and it would be unconscionable for Defendant to retain the funds paid by Plaintiff
and the putative class when the products did not provide the advertised benefits.

104. Defendant has been unjustly enriched at the expense of Plaintiff and the putative
class as result of Defendant’s unlawful conduct alleged herein, thereby creating a quasi-

contractual obligation on Defendant to restore these ill-gotten gains to Plaintiff and putative class

members.

105. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s unjust enrichment, Plaintiff and
putative class members are entitled to restitution, in an amount to be proven at trial.

"
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, on behalf of himself and on behalf of the other members of the
putative class, prays as follows:
A. For an order certifying that this action is properly brought and may be maintained
as a class action, that Plaintiff be appointed the class representative, and that Plaintiff’s counsel

be appointed counsel for the class;

B. For restitution in such amount that Plaintiff and all putative class members paid to
purchase the Misbranded Products, or the premiums paid therefor on account of the
misrepresentations as alleged above, or disgorgement of the profits Defendant has obtained from
those transactions;

C. For compensatory damages for causes of action for which they are available,
including but not limited to 73 P.S. § 201-9.2(a);

D. For statutory damages allowable under 73 P.S. § 201-9.2(a),

E. For treble damages pursuant to 73 P.S. § 201-9.2(a), and punitive damages for
causes of action for which they are available;

F. For a declaration and order enjoining Defendant from advertising its products
misleadingly in violation of Pennsylvania’s Unfair Trade Practices And Consumer Protection

Law, and other applicable laws and regulations as specified in this Complaint;

G. For an order awarding reasonable attorneys’ fees and the costs of suit herein;
H, For an award of pre- and post-judgment interest;
L. For an order requiring an accounting for, and imposition of, a constructive trust

upon all monies received by Defendant as a result of the unfair, misleading, fraudulent and

unlawful conduct alleged herein; and

J. Such other and further relief as may be deemed necessary or appropriate.
n
"
i
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JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff hereby demands a jury trial on all issues so triable.

Dated: March 9, 2016 Respectfully submitted,

KENNETH WHITAKER, individually and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,

o

Todd M. Friedmanm—"
One of Plaintiff’s Attorneys

Todd M. Friedman

Attorneys for Plaintiff Kenneth Whitaker
tfriedman@attorneysforconsumers.com
Attorney ID No. 310961

1150 First Ave., Suite 501

King of Prussia, PA 19406

Telephone: (877) 206-4741

Facsimile: (866) 633-0228

Anthony J. Orshansky*
Alexandria R. Kachadoorian*
Justin Kachadoorian*
COUNSELONE, PC

9301 Wilshire Boulevard Suite 650
Beverly Hills, CA 90210

T: 310.277.9945

F: 424.277.3727
anthony@counselonegroup.com
alexandria@counselonegroup.com
justin@counselonegroup.com

* Pro hac vice motions to be filed
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VERIFICATIO _
1, KENNETH WHITAKER, hereby depose and say that the facts contained in the
foregoing Complaint are true and correct to the best of my knowledge, information, and belief,
and are made subject to the penalties of 18 Pa. C.S. § 4904 relating to unswomn falsifications to

authorities.

p——— ot ARRL -.".’:‘?:::,‘:.-;- _,‘ . 7~ 4 y
”)2 -5 K : I il e 7 s 2
Dat& == { e o Kenn;thrw.hﬂ.ak .
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From: cp-efiling@courts.phila.gov

Sent: Tuesday, March 29, 2016 3:45 PM

To: Jan S. Bailey

Subject: Acceptance of your E-Filing #1603071410

Dear Jason T. Confair,

The legal paper you electronically presented for filing has been
reviewed by the Office of Judicial Records and is deemed
filed as noted below.

The following information is provided for your records:

Caption:
WHITAKER ETAL VS HERR FOODS CORP
Case Number: 160300763

Date Reviewed and Accepted:
March 29, 2016 03:42 pm EDT/DST

Date Presented to the Office of Judicial Records for Filing
and Date Deemed Filed:

March 29, 2016 03:30 pm EDT/DST
Type of Pleading/Legal Paper:

ACCEPTANCE OF SERVICE FILED

E-File No.: 1603071410
Confirmation No.: 4B1A6BABD
Personal Reference No.: 6660.04609
Filing Fee: $ 0.00

To retrieve the legal paper filed and any related notice, order or

legal paper, log in to the Electronic Filing Web Site at
http://courts.phila.gov using the Court-issued User Name and Password.
You may also go directly to the legal paper/document by copying and
pasting the following web address(es) into your browser or by clicking
the link(s) below to view the related document(s). Each link represents

a separate document filed in connection with this matter. Utilizing the
link(s) below will only take you to the actual document. You will not

be logged into the court's electronic filing system.

Whitaker Acceptance of Serv ice.pdf
https://fidefile.phila.gov/efsfjd/zk_ealib.open_doc?h=K9KrXycSg7yb5Jk
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As authorized by Pa.R.C.P. No. 205.4(g)(2)(ii), an email message is
being sent to the parties or counsel listed below informing them that
the above legal paper has been filed and is available together with any
related notice, order or legal paper for review and retrieval on the
system's website:

Parties in case no. 160300763

TODD M FRIEDMAN (ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF)
- SENT 03/29/16 03:42 PM

HERR FOODS CORP (DEFENDANT)
- NOT SENT NO EMAIL ON FILE

The above listed counsel and unrepresented parties, where indicated,
are deemed to have been served with the above legal paper and any
related notice, order or legal paper. The filing party shall serve

the legal paper on all other parties as required by Pa.R.C.P.N0.440

et seq., and other applicable rules of court.

Pursuant to Pa.R.C.P. No. 3108 service of the attached writ shall
be made by the sheriff.

You are reminded that Pa.R.C.P. No. 205.4 requires that a hard copy
of the legal paper you have filed electronically be signed and, as
applicable, verified concurrently with the electronic filing of the
legal paper, and shall be maintained by you for two (2) years after
the later of: (i) the disposition of the case; (ii) the entry of an

order resolving the issue raised by the legal paper; or (iii) the
disposition by an appellate court of the issue raised by the legal

paper.

At the request of any party, you must produce for inspection the
original or a hard copy of a legal paper or exhibit within fourteen
(14) days, or the court, upon motion, may grant appropriate
sanctions.

THANK YOU,
ERIC FEDER

DEPUTY COURT ADMINISTRATOR
DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF JUDICIAL RECORDS

DISCLAIMER

The First Judicial District will use your electronic mail address
and other personal information only for purposes of Electronic
Filing as authorized by Pa. R.C.P. 205.4 and Philadelphia Civil
*Rule 205.4.
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Use of the Electronic Filing System constitutes an acknowledgment
that the user has read the Electronic Filing Rules and Disclaimer
and agrees to comply with same.

This is an automated e-mail, please do not respond!
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Todd M. Friedman Attorneys for Plaintiff Kenneth Whitaker
tfriedman@attorneysforconsumers.com

Attorney ID No., 310961

1150 First Ave., Suite 501

King of Prussia, PA 19406

Telephone: (877) 206-4741

Facsimile: (866) 633-0228

THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
PHILADEPHIA COUNTY—CIVIL ACTION-LAW

KENNETH WHITAKER, on behalf of himself ) MARCH TERM, 2016
and others similarly situated, % NO. 160300763
CLASS ACTION
Plaintiff,

VS,

HERR FOODS, INC., d/b/a HERR'S,
Pennsylvania corporation,

Defendant,
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ACCEPTANCE OF SERVICE

1 accept service of the Complaint, Civil Cover Sheet, and Notice to Defend (English and
Spanish) in the above-captioned action on behalf of Defendant Herr Foods, Inc., and certify that I

am authorized to do so.

Dated: March 29, 2016

By: /A@ o
Ja@l . Confair

son T, Confair, Esq.
KEGEL KELIN ALMY & LORD LLP
24 N, Lime Street,
Lancaster, PA 17602
(717) 392-1100 - phone
(717) 392-4385 - fax
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

KENNETH WHITAKER, on behalf of himself
and others similarly situated,
Civil Action No.

Plaintiff,
: Philadelphia Court of Common Pleas
Vs, : Case No.: 160300763

HERR FOODS, INC,, d/b/a HERR’s, a
Pennsylvania corporation,

Defendant.

Affidavit of Daryl Thomas

I, the undersigned, having been duly sworn hereby state the following under penalty of
perjury pursuant to 18 Pa.C.S.A. § 4904 for knowingly making false statements to authorities:
1. My name is Daryl Thomas, and I am the Senior Vice-President of Sales and Marketing for
Herr Foods Incorporated — which I refer to in this Affidavit as “HFI” or “Herr Foods.”
2. In my role as HFI’s Senior Vice-President of Sales and Marketing, I have direct knowledge
of HFI’s sales revenue figures and the record-keeping systems that HFI uses to track those figures
for internal, accounting, tax, and other purposes.
3. I have reviewed the class action complaint filed by Kenneth Whitaker in the Philadelphia
County Court of Common Pleas at civil docket number 160300763, To simplify, I refer to Mr.
Whitaker’s lawsuit in this Affidavit as the “Action.”
4, HFI is removing the Action to Federal Court under the Class Action Fairness Act, which I
refer to in this Affidavit as the “Fairness Act.”
5. Per the explanation provided by HFI’s legal counsel, I understand that HFI needs to

establish the following in order to remove the Action to Federal Court under the Fairness Act:
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a. The amount in controversy in the Action exceeds $5,000,000, exclusive of interest
and costs.

b. There is “minimal diversity” because at least one member of the putative class in

the Action is a citizen of a different State than HFI.
6. To establish the $5,000,000 threshold, HFI’s legal counsel asked me to use HFI’s record-
keeping systems to compile a list of revenues that HFI received from March 11, 2010 through the
end of calendar year 2015 — a period of time that I refer to in this Affidavit as the “Sales Period”
— from sales of the products that Mr, Whitaker alleges are “mislabeled.” To simplify, I refer to
those specific products in this Affidavit collectively as the “HFI Products.”
7. HFT keeps accurate revenue figures for the sale of all its products (including the HFI
Products) for a wide variety of purposes, including tax and accounting purposes, internal planning
purposes, marketing purposes, and other business purposes.
8. Enclosed at Attachment 1 is a true and correct copy of a “Sales Matrix” that lists the
revenues HFI received from the sale of all HFI Products during the Sales Period.
9. The figures on the Sales Matrix were compiled by myself and my staff directly from HFI's
record-keeping systems.
10.  To the best of my knowledge, the figures on the Sales Matrix are accurate and complete.
11, As noted in the Sales Matrix, HFI’s revenues from the sale of HFI Products during the
Sales Period totaled $407,903,654 — with $213,026,510 of those revenues coming from sales made
to out-of-state customers.
12.  If anything, the figures on the Sales Matrix understate the amount in controversy because

revenue figures for the first quarter of 2016 are not included.
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13.  After reviewing Mr. Whitaker’s complaint and consulting with HFI’s legal counsel, I
understand Mr, Whitaker is demanding, among other damages, “restitution in such amount that
Plaintiff and all putative class members paid to purchase the” HFI Products during the Sales Period.
14.  Per the Sales Matrix, the “restitution” Mr., Whitaker is demanding would easily exceed
$5,000,000 because HFI’s revenues from the sale of HFI Products during the Sales Period totaled
$407,903,654.

15.  Regarding the “minimal diversity” requirement, HFT sells the vast majority of its products
(whether the HFT Products or otherwise) directly to wholesalers and retailers.

16,  HFI has no records or known methodology to determine either the identities or residences
of the end-consumers who purchased the HFI Products during the Sales Period.

17.  Although end-consumers can purchase HFI’s products over HFI's website or at HFI’s
factory store, HFI does not keep records necessarily tracking where those end-consumers live.

18.  The only records HFI maintains that would have any relevance in that regard would be
records showing to whom and where products purchased through the HFI website were shipped.
However, that shipping data does not necessarily identify end-consumers in each instance or where
those end-consumers live. Furthermore, by way of example, in 2015 approximately 0.6% of the
revenues HFI received from the sale of HFI Products were from website sales.

19.  Bethat as it may, given $213,026,510 of the revenues from the sale of HFI Products during
the Sales Period were from sales to out-of-state customers, there is no question in my mind that at
least one member of the putative class who purchased HFI Products during the Sales Period is a
citizen of a State other than Pennsylvania.

20.  In 1946, James S. Herr founded Herr Foods in Lancaster County, Pennsylvania.

21, On September 1, 1961, Herr Foods was incorporated under the laws of Pennsylvania.
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22.  Herr Foods is not incorporated in any State other than Pennsylvania.
23.  Herr Foods’ corporate headquarters, primary manufacturing facility, and principal place of
business are located in Nottingham, Chester County, Pennsylvania.
24.  Based on what HFI’s legal counsel has explained to me, Herr Foods is domiciled in (or is

a “citizen” of) Pennsylvania because the Company is incorporated in Pennsylvania and has its

principal place of business in Pennsylvania.

[Signature and attestation appear on the following page.]
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Affiant

Acknowledgement
State of Pennsylvania
County of Lancaster

On this, the é&_ day of April, 2016, before me the undersigned officer, personally appeared
Daryl Thomas, known to me (or satisfactorily proven) to be the person whose name is subscribed
to the within instrument, and acknowledged that he executed the same for the purposes therein

contained. In witness whereof, I hereunto set my hand and official seal.

‘ NOTARIAL SEAL
JANET S. BAILEY, Notary Puliiic
City of Lancaster, Lancaster
My Commission Expires February 12, 2018
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Attachment 1
Herr Foods Incorporated
Annual Sales
3/11/10- ) Total Sales —
Product 1231710 Sales 9611 gqles 2012 Sales 2013 Sales 2014 Sales 2015 Sales Total Sales - Class| Class Period
Period (Pennsylvania
Only)
gzﬁped Chips — Sea) ¢ s 263,383 § 45391118 351,503 246251| $ 336944 | 1651992 | $ 641235
Popped Chips —
Sour Cream & $ -1 - 701 |3 33,828 $ 178,095 § 185,385 | $ 669319 275,264
Onion
P Chips ~
opped Chips $ s 342,805 | $ 658,178 $ 495,598 | $ 356,884 | 5 436,043 | 8 2,289,508 | 728,157
Tangy Barbeque
Tostilla Chips $ 8720,501 | § 9,817,877| $ 9,120,600 | § 8716045 $ 7917578 $ 741600018 S,708601]$ 21,2867
Sourdough Pretzels ) . .
: $ 3516310 $ 4407,488] 5286983 | ¥ 6153734 | 5 5,684,376 § 57045798 307534708 17,815,068
Kettle Cooked
Potato Chips ~ | $ 758347| $ 871,003 § 610483 | 5 4154011 156,378| $ s 2,811,702 | $ 1354627
Natural Sea Salt
Kettle Cooked
Potato Chips — | § 1,264,006 | $ 1373367| 1073207 § 963,894 | $ §22,920] 714,864 $ 6212258 | $ 2,335431
Russet
Kettle Cooked
Potato Chips— | § 334797| $ 1,712,724 | § 1,150,730 | 967,134| 835,870] 7379231 $ 5739178 | $ 2,927,025
Ripples
Kettle Cooked
Potato Chips— | $ s -1 1974334 | § 1,555,397 $ 1281227] $ 975266 | 5786224 | $ 2,895219
Lattice Cut
Kettle Cooked
Potato Chips— | § s -|s -1 s 476432 § 446810 § 923242 | $ 431,798
Lattice Cut Ranch
;?;;:gscmps— s peosols  1sg77|s  1539667|5  14883830(s  14523853|5  14118429]s  88201105[s 43,097,028
Potato Chips -
Original CrispN* | $ 13,344,537| 16932,310{ $ 16202785 |8 154732728 15,002,980 | $ 1a554381s  ore1632|s 47260700
Tasty
Potato Chips — Sourf ¢ 11,607,144 | $ 14,691,986 | $ 1528274718 . - 14,893,065 | $ 14,872,640 | $ 15,103,855] 8 86451437| 8 40,061,126
Cream & Onion
Potato Chips - Salt | ¢ 4183337/ $ 5641208 $ 6,075,836 | $ 5727844 $ 5,595,684 | $ 5775278 329992068 13,925,794

n' Vinegar

Combined Totals for All Products
During Class Period:

National

Pennsylvania

$407,903,654 $194,877,144
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nited States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS

Whitaker, Kenneth, on behalf of himself and others similarly situated

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff

Washington

DEFENDANTS

(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)

(C) Attorneys (FFirm Name, Address, and Telephone Number)
Todd M. Friedman, 1150 First Ave., Suite 501,
King of Prussia, PA 19406, Phone: (877) 206-4741

SEE ATTACHMENT

NOTE:

Attorneys (If Known)
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Herr Foods, Inc., d/b/a Herr's, a Pennsylvania corporation
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Jason T. Confair, Kegel Kelin Almy & Lord LLP
24 North Lime Street Lancaster, PA 17602
Phone: (717) 392-1100
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(Excludes Veterans) 3 345 Marine Product Liability LABOR SOCIAL SECURITY 1 490 Cable/Sat TV
3 153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY | 710 Fair Labor Standards 0 861 HIA (1395ff) {3 850 Securities’Commodities/
" of Veteran's Benefits J 350 Motor Vehicle ¥ 370 Other Fraud Act 0 862 Black Lung {923) Exchange
0 160 Stockholders” Suits 3 355 Motor Vehicle 7 371 Truth in Lending 3 720 Labor/Management {1 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) | O 890 Other Statutory Actions
O 190 Other Contract Product Liability 3 380 Other Personal Relations [J 864 SSID Title XVI 0 891 Agricultural Acts
(3 195 Contract Product Liability | (1 360 Other Personal Property Damage 3 740 Railway Labor Act (7 865 RSI (405(g)) J 893 Environmental Matters
3 196 Franchise Injury 7 385 Property Damage 3 751 Family and Medical 0 895 Freedom of Information
3 362 Personal Injury - Product Liability Leave Act Act
Medical Malpractice 7 790 Other Labor Litigation {7 896 Arbitration
l REAL PROPERTY ~CIVIL;RIGHTS PRISONER PETITIONS 113 791 Employee Retirement FEDERAL TAX SUITS 71 899 Administrative Procedure

Act/Review or Appeal of
Agency Decision

950 Constitutionality of
State Statutes

V. ORIGIN (Place an “X" in One Box Only)

1 Original (2 Removed from 3 3 Remanded from 7 4 Reinstated or 0 5 Transferred from (3 6 Multidistrict
Proceeding State Court Appellate Court Reopened ;\not}ﬁljr District Litigation
specify,

VI, CAUSE OF ACTION

Cite the U.S, Civil Statute under which you are {ilin
Class Action Fairness Act, 28 U,

(Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity).

S.C. 1335(d)(2)

Brief description of cause: ) i
PA Unfair Trade Prac./Con. Protection, fraud, negligent misrepresentation, contract, warranty, unjust enrichment

VII. REQUESTED IN ® CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION DEMANDS CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:
COMPLAINT: UNDER RULE 23, FR.Cv.P. Not specified JURY DEMAND: X Yes [ No

VIII. RELATED CASE(S) o
IF ANY (See instructions): JUDGE DOCKET NUMBER

DATE SIGNATURE OFJATTORNEY OF RECORD

04/27/2017 ﬁ,( e

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY (N)

RECEIPT # AMOUNT APPLYING IFP JUDGE MAG. JUDGE
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Attachment to Civil Cover Sheet

I. PLAINTIFFS
(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number)

Anthony J. Orshansky

Alexandria R. Kachadoorian

Justin Kachadoorian
COUNSELONE, PC

9301 Wilshire Boulevard Suite 650,
Beverly Hills, CA 90210

Phone: (310) 277-9945
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

CASE MANAGEMENT TRACK DESIGNATION FORM

Kenneth Whi.taker, on behalf of himself : CIVIL ACTION
and others similarly situated, .

V.
Herr Foods Inc., d/b/a Herr's,

a Pennsylvania corporation.

In accordance with the Civil Justice Expense and Delay Reduction Plan of this court, counsel for
plaintiff shall complete a Case Management Track Designation Form in all civil cases at the time of
filing the complaint and serve a copy on all defendants. (See § 1:03 of the plan set forth on the reverse
side of this form.) In the event that a defendant does not agree with the plaintiff regarding said
designation, that defendant shall, with its first appearance, submit to the clerk of court and serve on
the plaintiff and all other parties, a Case Management Track Designation Form specifying the track
to which that defendant believes the case should be assigned.

NO.

SELECT ONE OF THE FOLLOWING CASE MANAGEMENT TRACKS:
(a) Habeas Corpus — Cases brought under 28 U.S.C. § 2241 through § 2255. ()

(b) Social Security — Cases requesting review of a decision of the Secretary of Health
and Human Services denying plaintiff Social Security Benefits. ()

(c) Arbitration — Cases required to be designated for arbitration under Local Civil Rule 53.2. ()

(d) Asbestos — Cases involving claims for personal injury or property damage from
exposure to asbestos. ()

(e) Special Management — Cases that do not fall into tracks (a) through (d) that are
commonly referred to as complex and that need special or intense management by
the court. (See reverse side of this form for a detailed explanation of special

management cases.) (X)
(H) Standard Management — Cases that do not fall into any one of the other tracks. ()
04/27/2016 ~ = Defendant, Herr Foods Incorporated
Date A eyvat-law Attorney for
(717) 392-1100 (717)&2—4385 confair@kkallaw.com
Telephone FAX Number E-Mail Address

(Civ. 660) 10/02
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA — DESIGNATION FORM to be used by counsel to indicate the category of the case for the purpose of
assignment to appropriate calendar,

Address of Plaintiff__lnknown
Address of Defendant: 20 Herr Drive, Nottingham, Pennsylvania 19362

Place of Accident, Incident or Transaction; | hroughout the United States
(Use Reverse Side For Additional Space)

Doses this civil action involve a nongovernmental corporate party with any parent corporation and any publicly held corporation owning 10% or more of its stock?

(Attach two copies of the Disclosure Statement Form in accordance with Fed R.Civ.P. 7.1(a)) YesO Nolx
Does this case involve multidistrict litigation possibilities? YesX NoD
RELATED CASE, IF ANY.:

Case Number: Judge Date Terminated:

Civil cases are deemed related when yes is answered to any of the following questions:

1. Is this case related to property included in an earlier numbered suit pending or within one year previously terminated action in this court?
YesO NOM
2. Does this case involve the same issue of fact or grow out of the same transaction as a prior suit pending or within one year previously terminated
action in this court?

YesO NOM
3. Does this case involve the validity or infringement of a patent already in suit or any earlier numbered case pending or within one year previously
terminated action in this court? YesOO NOM

4, Is this case a second or successive habeas corpus, social security appeal, or pro se civil rights case filed by the same individual?
Yesll NolX

CIVIL: (Place ‘/ N ONE CATEGORY ONLY)
A. Federal Question Cases:
1. 0 Indemnity Contract, Marine Contract, and All Other Contracts

=

Diversity Jurisdiction Cases:

Insurance Contract and Other Contracts

—

.o
2. 0 FELA 2. O Airplane Personal Injury
3. O Jones Act-Personal Injury 3. O Assault, Defamation
4. O Antitrust 4. D Marine Personal Injury
5. O Patent 5. O Motor Vehicle Personal Injury
6. 0 Labor-Management Relations 6. o Other Personal Injury (Please specify)
7. O Civil Rights 7. O Products Liability
8. O Habeas Corpus 8. O Products Liability — Asbestos
9, D Securities Act(s) Cases 9. X All other Diversity Cases
10. 0 Social Security Review Cases (Please specity) _(Class Action Fairness Act
11. 0 All other Federal Question Cases

(Please specify)

ARBITRATION CERTIFICATION
(Check Appropriate Category)
counsel of record do hereby certify:

X Pursuant to Local Civil Rule 53.2, Section 3(c)(2), that to the best of my knowledge and belief, the damages recoverable in this civil action case exceed the sum of
$150,000.00 exclusive of interest and costs;
X Relief other than monetary damages is sought.

DATE: (!4[2 Z[2§ [j| 6

I,

o PA 206729
ey-at-Naw Attorney LD #

NOTE: /A trigf de novo will be/a trial by jury only if there has been compliance with FR.C.P, 38.

I certify that, to my knowledge, the within case is not related to any case now pending or within one year previously terminated action in this court

except as noted above,
DATE: __04/27/2016 //mﬁ — PA 206729

A -alLaw Attomey LD.#

CIV. 609 (5/2012)




